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DECISION AND DISMISSAL OF COMPLAINT 
 
 On December 24, 2013, UPSEU, Local 424 – Unit 75, Trumbull BOE 
Custodians, Maintenance, Security (the Union) filed a complaint with the Connecticut 
State Board of Labor Relations (the Labor Board) alleging that the Trumbull Board of 
Education (the School Board) violated the Municipal Employee Relations Act (MERA or 
the Act) by unilaterally declaring certain language in the parties’ collective bargaining 
agreement as illegal, null and void. 
 
 After the requisite preliminary steps had been taken the parties entered into a 
stipulation of facts and exhibits and came before the Labor Board for a hearing on June 
25, 2015.  Both parties appeared, were represented and were allowed an opportunity to 
present evidence, examine and cross-examine witnesses, and make argument.  Both 
parties filed post-hearing briefs on August 10, 2015.  Based on the entire record before 
us, we make the following findings of fact and conclusions of law and we dismiss the 
complaint. 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

1. The School Board is an employer within the meaning of the Act. 
 
2. The Union is an employee organization within the meaning of the Act and at all 
material times has been the exclusive bargaining representative of all school custodians 
and maintenance employees excluding seasonal employees and supervisory employees of 
the School Board. 
 
3. At all relevant times, Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-51ii(a) has provided: 
  
 No person shall be required to work for seven and one-half or more consecutive 
 hours without a period of at least thirty consecutive minutes for a meal.  Such 
 period shall be given at some time after the first two hours of work and before the 
 last two hours. 
 
At all relevant times, Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-76c has provided: 
 
 No employer, except as otherwise provided herein, shall employ any of his 
 employees for a workweek longer than forty hours, unless such employee receives 
 remuneration for his employment in excess of the hours above specified at a 
 rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate at which he is employed. 
 
4. At all relevant times the School Board and the Union have been parties to a 
collective bargaining agreement (Ex. 4) with effective dates of July 1, 2010 through June 
30, 2014 which states, in relevant part: 
 

ARTICLE 6 – HOURS OF WORK 
 

Section 6.1 
 

The normal hours of employment for all full time employees in the bargaining 
unit shall be eight (8) hours per day and forty (40) hours per week.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision in this Agreement, 
custodians who work the day shift in a school where they are the only custodian 
regularly scheduled for said shift shall work an eight and one-half (8 ½) hour day, 
which shall include a one-half  (1/2) hour paid lunch, all of which hours shall be 
paid at straight time.  Employees receiving a paid lunch shall not be allowed to 
leave the building during their lunch break. 
 
Section 6.2 
 
Hours worked by employees in excess of eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) 
hours per week shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half the employee’s 
regular straight time hourly rate (except as provided in Section 6.1) . . . 
 
. . .  

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS 
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Section 18.2 
 

In the event that any provisions or portions of this Agreement are ultimately ruled 
invalid for any reason by an authority of established and competent legal 
jurisdiction, the balance and remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full 
force and effect. 

 
5. Multiple prior collective bargaining agreements between the parties contained 
language identical to Section 6.1 of the 2010-2014 collective bargaining agreement. 
 
6. In the summer of 2014, the parties engaged in negotiations for a successor 
collective bargaining agreement and discussed the legality of Section 6.1.  During such 
negotiations the Union submitted a proposal (Ex. 5) that Section 6.1 be amended to read: 
 
 The normal hours of employment for all full time employees in the bargaining 
 unit shall be eight (8) hours per day and forty (40) hours per week Monday 
 through Friday.  Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision in this 
 Agreement, night shift, or, custodians who work the day shift in a school where 
 they are the only custodian regularly scheduled for said shift shall work an eight 
 and one half (8 ½) hour day, which shall include a one-half (1/2) hour paid lunch, 
 as well as 2.5 hours at the overtime rate.  Employees receiving a paid lunch shall 
 not be allowed to leave the building during their lunch break. 
 
7. On July 8, 2014, the School Board submitted a counter proposal that stated, in 
relevant part: “6.1 Counter:  No pay; don’t have to be in the building”. (Ex. 6). 
 
8. On or about September 3, 2014, School Board facilities director Mark J. Deming 
issued a notice (Ex. 7) that states, in relevant part: 
 

EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY 
 
 No employee is any longer required to stay in the building during his lunch 
 period.  Lunch shall be scheduled so as to not interfere with services that we 
 provide.  Dayshift employees will take and finish their lunch prior to start of the 
 student’s lunch periods. 
 . . .  
 
(Emphasis in original). 
 
9. By letter (Ex. 9) to the School Board dated November 3, 2014, Jonathan Trumbull 
(Trumbull) of the Wage and Workplace Standards Division (WWSD) of the Department 
of Labor stated, in relevant part: 
 
 Multiple wage complaints against your establishment have been filed with this 
 office.  The claims allege that . . . [two employees] were not paid properly for 
 hours worked and subsequent overtime as required by state law.  Once we receive 
 claims such as this, a process is begun to determine the veracity of the claim . . .     
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Failure to pay wages when due is a violation of § 31-71b of the Connecticut 
General Statutes . . . Your cooperation in responding to this claim is appreciated . 
. .  

 
10. The School Board resolved the complaints pending before the WWSD by paying 
all impacted employees certain overtime compensation and on November 17, 2014, the 
School Board provided Trumbull with proof of such payments.  (Ex. 10). 
 
11. By letter (Ex. 11) to Union regional director Wayne A. Gilbert (Gilbert) dated 
December 2, 2014, School Board attorney Floyd J. Dugas (Dugas) stated in relevant part: 
 
 [T]wo members of your bargaining unit filed wage and hour complaints . . . 
 alleg[ing] that by paying them straight time for the extra half-hour provided for in 
 Section 6.1 of the contract, the Trumbull Public Schools is in violation of the  
 wage and hour laws.  This is a position you espoused at the bargaining table this 
 summer. 
 

As a result of the complaint . . . , the Board has accepted that the second and third 
Sentences of Section 6.1 are in violation of the law, and has paid . . . four 
employees in resolution of the claim. 
 
At this point, it is undisputed that the second and final sentence of Section 6.1 is 
illegal . . . Accordingly, going forward, the Trumbull Board of Education will not 
enforce/comply with the second and third sentence of Section 6.1  
 
This means that going forward, all employees shall be subject to the language in 
the first sentence, which calls for an eight (8) hour day. As such, those employees 
who previously worked 8.5 hours shall work eight (8) hours, receive a half-hour 
unpaid lunch, and shall not be required to remain in the building as was 
previously the case. 
. . .  

 
12. By letter (Ex. 12) to Dugas dated December 11, 2014, Gilbert stated in relevant 
part: 
  
 The union . . . disagrees that the entire second and third sentences of section 6.1 
 are illegal.  The only clause of that language which is illegal is the phrase that 
 states “all of which hours shall be paid at straight time.”  . . . 
 
 Indeed, Article 18.2 provides specific language as to what occurs when “any 
 provision or portions of the Agreement are ultimately ruled invalid . . .” This  
 section goes on to state that “the balance and remainder of this Agreement shall 
 remain in full force and effect. 
 

. . . Therefore, until Trumbull Public Schools administration negotiates with the 
Union, the custodians referenced in Section 6.1 who are “the only custodian in a 
Trumbull school” shall continue to work an 8.5 hour day with a half hour paid 
lunch. 
. . .  
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(Emphasis in original). 
  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 
1. An employer’s unilateral change in an existing condition of employment that is a 
mandatory subject of bargaining will constitute a refusal to bargain in good faith and a 
violation of the Act unless the employer establishes an adequate defense. 
 
 
2. A subject of bargaining is illegal if it results in a contract provision which is 
contrary to other provisions of state statutes. 
 
3. A controlling provision in a collective bargaining agreement is an adequate 
defense to a claim of unlawful unilateral change. 
 
4. The School Board did not violate the Act when it reduced normal hours of 
employment for all custodians to an eight hour day. 
 

DISCUSSION 
 
 The Union contends that the School Board violated Section 7-470(a)(4)1 of the 
Act when it unilaterally reduced the regular hours of day shift custodians working alone 
by thirty minutes. Specifically, the Union alleges that in order to eliminate its statutory 
liability to pay overtime compensation and without the Union’s consent, the School 
Board rescinded the contractual requirements that certain custodians receive paid lunch 
breaks and remain at the work site during such breaks.   
 
 In response, the School Board claims that its actions were compelled by law, that 
the Union improperly seeks to rewrite the collective bargaining agreement to require 
regular payment of overtime, and that the Labor Board does not have jurisdiction to sever 
language in Section 6.1 as proposed by the Union. In the alternative, the School Board 
argues that severability turns on the parties’ intent and that the obligation to compensate a 
custodian for a meal break at straight time was mutually intended to be dependent upon 
the custodian’s obligation to remain in the school during the break.  Given the record 
before us, we agree with the School Board that the language in the second and third 
sentences of Section 6.1 is not severable and may not serve as the basis for an 
enforceable practice under our unilateral change doctrine as it requires, in part, action 
contrary to state law.   
 
 It is a violation of the Act for an employer to unilaterally change an existing 
condition of employment that is a mandatory subject of bargaining unless the employer 
provides an adequate defense. City of Ansonia, Decision No. 4836 (2015); City of 

                                                
1 Section 7-470(a)(4) provides:  
 

(a)  Municipal employers or their representatives or agents are prohibited from: . . . (4) refusing to 
bargain collectively in good faith with an employee organization which has been designated in 
accordance with the provisions of said  sections as the exclusive representative of employees in 
the appropriate unit..  
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Hartford, Decision No. 4673 (2013); State of Connecticut, Judicial Branch, Decision 
No. 4532 (2011); Norwalk Third Taxing District, Decision No. 3695 (1999); Bloomfield 
Board of Education, Decision No. 3150 (1993); City of Stamford, Decision No. 2680 
(1988).  “To establish a unilateral change of a condition of employment, the union must 
establish that the employment practice was ‘clearly enunciated and consistent, [that it] 
endured[d] over a reasonable length of time, and [that it was] an accepted practice by 
both parties.’” Board of Education of Region 16 v. State Board of Labor Relations, 299 
Conn. 63, 73 (2010) (quoting, Honulik v. Greenwich, 293 Conn. 698, 719 n. 33).    
 
 A unilateral change, however, to an existing condition of employment that 
involves an illegal subject of bargaining is not considered a violation of the statutory 
schemes we administer.  State of Connecticut, Department of Public Safety, Decision 
No. 4550 (2011); Portland Board of Education, Decision No. 2802 (1990); City of 
Bridgeport, Decision No. 1648 (1978).   
 

Illegal subjects of bargaining are those which, if included as a provision in a 
collective bargaining agreement, result in that provision being both illegal and 
unenforceable to the extent that the provision involves an illegal subject of 
bargaining.  A subject will be designated as being illegal if it is contrary to the 
provisions of the Act and/or would require the taking of action which is 
prohibited by the Act.  A subject may also be found to be an illegal subject of 
bargaining if it would result in a contract provision which would be contrary to 
other provisions of State . . . statutes or other controlling laws. 
 

Greenwich Board of Education, Decision No. 3141 pp. 5-6 (1993)(citations 
omitted)(emphasis added). 
 
 The parties agree that by requiring certain custodians to “work an eight and one-
half (8 ½) hour day . . . all of which hours shall be paid at straight time . . . ,” Section 6.1 
of the collective bargaining agreement improperly provides for “a workweek longer than 
forty hours . . . at a rate . . . less than one and one-half times the regular rate . . .”2  See 
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-76c.  The Union contends that severance of the phrase “all of 
which hours shall be paid at straight time” renders Section 6.1 legal and preserves “the 
balance and remainder” of the collective bargaining agreement in accordance with 
Section 18.2.  We disagree as we find that the proposed severance would be contrary to 
the parties’ mutual intent as expressed in the provisions at issue. 
 
 As a general rule, it may be said that a contract is entire, when by its terms, 
 nature, and purpose, it contemplates and intends that each and all of its parts and 
 the consideration shall be common each to the other, and interdependent.  On the 
 other hand, it is the general rule that a severable contract is one in its nature and 
 purpose susceptible of division and apportionment.  The determinative test is in 
 ascertaining from the language used, read in the light of the surrounding 
 circumstances, what was the intention of the parties. 
 
Hartford-Connecticut Trust Co. v. Cambell, 95 Conn. 399, 405, (1920) (citations and 
internal quotation marks omitted).  See also Venture Partners, Ltd. V. Synapse 

                                                
2 We assume on the basis of the record before us that all custodians work a five day work week. 



 7 

Technologies, Inc., 42 Conn. App. 109, 118. “When construing a contract, we seek to 
determine the intent of the parties from the language used interpreted in the light of the 
situation of the parties and circumstances connected with the transaction . . .”   Parisi v. 
Parisi, 315 Conn. 370, 383 (2015) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted) 
(emphasis in original). In short, we agree with our federal counterpart that 
 

[i]n determining the object of an allegedly unlawful agreement the Board looks at 
the agreement in its context, including how the agreement in issue operates within 
the remainder of a collective-bargaining contract and the employer’s operation.  . . 
. The Board does not consider in isolation clauses that were written to operate 
together. 

 
Sheetmetal Workers Local 91 (Schebler Co.), 305 NLRB 1055, 1056 (1991)(emphasis 
added).  
 

 Read in conjunction, Sections 6.1 and 6.2 provide for a “normal” workday of 
eight hours payable at straight time and additional time, if any, paid at the higher rate of 
time and one-half. Article 6 contemplates a single exception to this arrangement; day 
shift custodians working alone are afforded a paid lunch break but must remain at the 
worksite an additional thirty minutes so that they are available should their services be 
required.3 While the rate of compensation for this paid lunch violated statutory wage and 
hour laws, it nevertheless was negotiated by the parties and was the intended 
consideration for the longer work day.  In sum, we find that remaining at the worksite for 
an additional thirty minutes and compensation at straight time for such time were 
interdependent obligations and intended to operate in concert.    
 
 Given the circumstances, we find that the severance contemplated by the Union 
would unfairly disturb the balance of consideration set forth in Article 6 whereas the 
severance implemented by the School Board excises the offending exception to the 
regular work schedule and preserves the remainder of the collective bargaining 
agreement as required under Section 18.2. Since the School Board’s actions are 
consistent with and authorized by this remaining language, we dismiss the Union’s 
complaint. 

                                                
3 Employer imposed restrictions on employees’ ability to leave the worksite during meal breaks are of 
particular importance in determining whether such breaks are hours worked under wage and hour laws. See 
Reich v. S.N.E.T. Corp., 121 F.3d 58 (2nd Cir. 1997); 29 C.F.R. §785.19(a). 
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 ORDER 

 
 By virtue of and pursuant to the power vested in the Connecticut State Board of 
Labor Relations by the Municipal Employee Relations Act, it is hereby 
 
 ORDERED that the complaint filed herein be and the same hereby is 
DISMISSED. 
 
  CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS 
 
         Patricia V. Low 
         Patricia V. Low 
         Chairman 
 
         Wendella Ault Battey 
                    Wendella Ault Battey 
                                          Board Member 
 
         Barbara J. Collins 
                               Barbara J. Collins 
                                                     Board Member        
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CERTIFICATION 
 
 I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing was mailed postage prepaid this 28th   
day of January, 2016 to the following: 
 
Attorney Floyd J. Dugas 
Berchem, Moses & Devlin, P.C.   RRR 
75 Broad Street 
Milford, CT 06460 
 
Attorney Elizabeth Ditman 
United Public Service Employees Union  RRR 
130 Research Parkway, Suite 101 
Meriden, CT 06450 
 
 
 _________________________________ 
 Harry B. Elliott, Jr., General Counsel   
 CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS  
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